2009

# John Boyle and Norrine Boyle v. Kerry Christensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(a).

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court granted certiorari on the following issues:

**ISSUE NO. 1:** Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the district court as to the voir dire questions submitted to the jury.

**Preservation:** At the Court of Appeals, this issue was addressed in appellees' Brief of Appellant, pp. 11-16, and Reply Brief of Appellant, pp. 1-9. In the trial court, the issue was addressed in plaintiffs' proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow Up Voir Dire. (R. 596-600; Exhibit 2.)<sup>1</sup>. However, the Court of Appeals held that submission of the requested voir dire was not sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. *See* Point I, *infra*.

**Standard of Review:** On a writ of certiorari, this Court reviews the decision of the Court of Appeals for correctness. *Peterson v Kennard*, 2008 UT 90, ¶ 8, 201 P.3d 956. Interpretation of a Rule of Civil Procedure is a question of law. *Stoddard v Smith*, 27 P.3d 546, 548 (Utah 2001). A trial court's management of jury voir dire is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Alcazar v University of Utah Hospitals, et al*, 2008 UT App 222 ¶9, 188 P.3d 490, 493; *Barrett v Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96, 98 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiff's Proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow up Voir Dire are attached hereto as Add.Exh. 3. Perhaps because it was submitted as an attachment to correspondence, the document was not docketed at the time of its initial filing. However, defendant acknowledged receiving it (R. 436), and it was incorporated in part by the trial court (R. 536 # 1, 2, 9, 11, 14 and R. 599-600, # 5-9). To clear up the record, the plaintiffs subsequently resubmitted another copy of the document without objection. (R. 599-600)

**ISSUE NO. 2:** Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the district court’s overruling of Petitioners’ objection to references to another case in closing argument.

**Standard of Review:** On a writ of certiorari, this Court reviews the decision of the Court of Appeals for correctness. *Peterson v. Kennard*, 2008 UT 90, ¶ 8, 201 P.3d 956. The trial court’s decision to allow defense counsel to refer to the McDonald’s coffee case in closing argument is reviewed for abuse of discretion *State v. Alonzo*, 932 P.2d 606, 615 (Utah App. 1997), and *State v. Alonzo*, 973 P.2d 975, 981 (Utah 1998).

**Preservation:** In the Court of Appeals, the issue was raised in the Brief of Appellants, pp. 16-19, and the Reply Brief of Appellant, pp. 9-12. At trial, Plaintiff objected on the record at the time of the prejudicial statement. (R. 695, p. 48:17-23.)

**ISSUE NO. 3:** Whether the Court of Appeals erred in its construction and application of Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11(1)(a)(iii).

**Standard of Review:** On a writ of certiorari, this Court reviews the decision of the Court of Appeals for correctness. *Peterson v. Kennard*, 2008 UT 90, ¶ 8, 201 P.3d 956. Statutory interpretation is a matter of law that is reviewed for correctness. *MacFarlane v. State Tax Comm’n*, 2006 UT 25, ¶ 9, 134 P.3d 1116. As the defendant’s “motion in limine” was, in actuality, a motion for summary judgment on Mrs. Boyle’s claims, dismissal could be granted (and affirmed) only if there was “no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party [was] entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). All facts and reasonable inferences must be drawn in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Gary Porter Construction v. Fox Construction*, 2004 UT App 354 ¶ 10, 101 P.3d 371.



**Preservation:** These issues were raised in the Court of Appeals in the Brief of Appellants, pp. 19-22, and Reply Brief of Appellants, pp. 12-15. In the trial court, the issues were raised in Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion in Limine to Dismiss Plaintiff Norrine Boyle. (R. 326-355.)

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,  
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11: Action for consortium due to personal injury.

- (1) For purposes of this section:
  - (a) "injury" or injured" means a significant permanent injury to a person that substantially changes that person's lifestyle and includes the following:
    - (i) a partial or complete paralysis of one or more of the extremities;
    - (ii) significant disfigurement; or
    - (iii) incapability of the person of performing the types of jobs the person performed before the injury; and
  - (b) "spouse" means the legal relationship:
    - (i) established between a man and a woman as recognized by the laws of this state; and
    - (ii) existing at the time of the person's injury.
- (2) The spouse of a person injured by a third party on or after May 4, 1997, may maintain an action against the third party to recover for loss of consortium.
- (3) A claim for loss of consortium begins on the date of injury to the spouse. The statute of limitations applicable to the injured person shall also apply to the spouse's claim of loss of consortium.
- (4) A claim for the spouse's loss of consortium shall be:
  - (a) made at the time the claim of the injured person is made and joinder of actions shall be compulsory; and
  - (b) subject to the same defenses, limitations, immunities, and provisions applicable to the claims of the injured person.
- (5) The spouse's action for loss of consortium:
  - (a) shall be derivative from the cause of action existing in behalf of the injured person; and
  - (b) may not exist in cases where the injured person would not have a cause of action.

- (6) Fault of the spouse of the injured person, as well as fault of the injured person, shall be compared with the fault of all other parties, pursuant to Sections 78B-5-817 through 78B-5-823, for purposes of reducing or barring any recovery by the spouse for loss of consortium.
- (7) Damages awarded for loss of consortium, when combined with any award to the injured person for general damages, may not exceed any applicable statutory limit on noneconomic damages, including Section 78B-3-410.
- (8) Damages awarded for loss of consortium which a governmental entity is required to pay, when combined with any award to the injured person which a governmental entity is required to pay, may not exceed the liability limit for one person in any one occurrence under Title 63G, Chapter 7, Governmental Immunity Act of Utah.

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure – Rule 46. Exceptions unnecessary.

Formal exceptions to rulings or orders of the court are unnecessary. It is sufficient that a party, at the time the ruling or order of the court is made or sought, makes known to the court the action which he desires the court to take or his objection to the action of the court and his grounds therefor; and, if a party has no opportunity to object to a ruling or order at the time it is made, the absence of an objection does not thereafter prejudice him.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

*Nature of the case, course of proceedings, and disposition below*

Plaintiff John Boyle filed a negligence action against Defendant Kerry Christensen on July 14, 2005, alleging that Mr. Christensen was responsible for an automobile / pedestrian accident on July 22, 2004 in which Mr. Boyle was injured. (R. 1-5.) Mr. Boyle's spouse, Norrine Boyle, was subsequently added as a plaintiff, alleging loss of consortium. (R. 105.)

On January 8, 2008, Defendant Christensen filed a Motion in Limine requesting dismissal of Norrine Boyle's Loss of Consortium claim, arguing that Mrs. Boyle's claim

lacked the necessary evidentiary support to meet the statutory requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11. (R. 240-316.) The trial court granted the motion by order dated May 28, 2008. (R. 528, 532-534 (collectively attached hereto as Add.Exh. 2).)

The defendant stipulated to liability (R. 693, p. 6:20-21), and John Boyle's claims for damages were tried to a jury from June 3-6, 2008. Prior to trial, both parties provided proposed Jury Questionnaires to the trial court. (R. 436-40 (defendant's); 596-600 (plaintiff's, attached hereto as Add.Exh. 3.) The court took the two sets of proposed questions, to which neither party objected, and culled and combined them into one document. The court then conducted oral voir dire using the document it had created. The court declined to ask any of Mr. Boyle's questions designed to reveal possible juror biases regarding tort reform, nor was Mr. Boyle afforded an opportunity to question the jurors on the tort reform issues. (R. 693, pp. 25-98.)

Later, during closing argument, Defendant Christensen's counsel, arguing that Mr. Boyle's compensatory damage analysis would result in an excessive verdict, stated "That's how we get verdicts like in the McDonald's case with a cup of coffee." (R. 695, p. 48:17-22.) The trial court overruled Mr. Boyle's objection that the comment was not supported by the evidence and was prejudicial. (*Id.*, pp. 48:23-49:5.)

Despite significant injuries, including a back surgery, the jury returned a verdict of only \$62,500, including medical expenses, which included only \$27,800 in non-economic damages. The trial court entered the Final Verdict on the Judgment June 20, 2008. (R. 669-673.) Plaintiffs timely appealed. (R. 674-675.) The Court of Appeals affirmed (*see*

Add.Exh. 1), and the Boyles filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which this Court granted.

## FACTS

### *The accident and injury / Mrs. Boyle's loss-of-consortium claim*

On July 22, 2004, Plaintiff John Boyle was struck by a pick-up truck while he was in a crosswalk in front of a Smith's grocery store. As noted above, defendant admitted liability for the accident. (Opinion, ¶ 5; R. 241.)

The accident caused a severe disc herniation and other injuries that eventually necessitated surgery. (R. 339-40.) Although the surgery provided some relief, it proved to be largely unsuccessful. As a result, Mr. Boyle has been left with permanent chronic pain. Since the accident, Mr. Boyle has not been able to sleep in a bed and is only able to get limited sleep in a recliner. His lack of sleep causes problems with everything that he does. It has not precluded him from working at a sedentary job, but even at that kind of work, it has interfered with his productiveness and precluded him from working full eight hour days. He is not able to perform employment with any significant physical demands and can no longer even carry small baskets of golf balls. Prior to the accident, Mr. Boyle was an accomplished golfer, and, at one point in his adult life, worked as the golf pro at a golf course. Now, according to Mr. Boyle, his chronic pain and lack of sleep "permeates everything that I do." (R. 261-62.)

Based upon the foregoing, Mr. Boyle's wife of many years, Norrine, asserted a claim for loss of consortium. The parties did not dispute that, under Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11(2), the spouse of a person must show that the person was "injured" by a third

party in order to assert a loss-of-consortium claim. See Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11(2) (“The spouse of a person injured by a third party on or after May 4, 1997, may maintain an action against the third party to recover for loss of consortium.”).

“Injury” or “injured,” in turn, is defined as “a significant permanent injury to a person that substantially changes that person’s lifestyle and includes . . . (iii) incapability of the person of performing the types of jobs the person performed before the injury.” Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11(1)(a)(iii). Mrs. Boyle argued that the evidence presented was sufficient to satisfy this method of showing an injury, but the trial court disagreed, and dismissed her claim prior to trial. (R. 532-34.) On appeal, the parties’ disagreement centered on the meaning of the statutory term “incapability.” See pp. 25-28, *infra*.

*Requested voir dire on tort reform issues*

After the dismissal of Mrs. Boyle’s consortium claim, Mr. Boyle’s claims proceeded to trial. Consistent with the court’s Case Management Order, Plaintiff submitted a written list of requested voir dire questions for potential jurors. (R. 596-600.) Because a substantial part of John Boyle’s claims were for general damages for chronic pain, Mr. Boyle sought insight into the jurors’ attitudes regarding general damages and awards for pain and suffering:

Four of the questions were intended to solicit jurors’ views on issues generally known as tort reform issues:

4: What are your feelings or opinions about people who bring personal injury lawsuits? If supported by the evidence, could you award a large amount of money to the plaintiff in this case?

5: If you were seriously hurt or injured by the negligence of another, would you sue? Please explain your answer:

6: If supported by the evidence, could you award money damages for

a. Future physical pain      ☐ yes ☐ no

b. Mental anguish            ☐ yes ☐ no

c. The impact on a wife of partially disabling injuries to her husband?

d. Future medical bills      ☐ yes ☐ no

If you answered NO to any of the above, please explain:

7. Do you believe the law should impose limits on money that can be awarded for pain and suffering: ☐ yes ☐ no If YES, what do you believe these limitations should be?

(R. 599; see Add.Exh. 3.); see Opinion, ¶ 4 (“Mr. Boyle submitted a proposed jury questionnaire that included specific questions intended to elicit jurors’ views regarding damages and tort reform”). The defendant indicated that he did not “object to the questionnaire submitted by plaintiffs. .” (R. 436.)

Unlike most district court judges, it is undisputed that the trial court in this case did not provide counsel with any advance notice of its intentions regarding voir dire until it had already ruled on the parties’ proposed questions by conducting the voir dire. The court did not, for example, provide a copy of its final list of voir dire questions for counsel’s review before questioning the jury pool. Nor did the court ask counsel afterward if they wanted any other questions asked of the pool, or solicit exceptions.

On appeal, defendant Christensen argued, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that plaintiff had failed to preserve his request for tort reform-related voir dire by not objecting *after* the trial court had conducted its voir dire. Opinion, ¶¶ 12, 14. Appellant

Boyle argued that, under U.R.Civ.P. 46, a party is not required to object once a court has already ruled. The Court of Appeals did not address this argument or Rule 46.

*Defense counsel's reference to the "McDonald's" case*

At trial, the defense strategy centered on casting Mr. Boyle in a negative light for requesting a substantial amount of money for his injuries. This theme was carried too far in closing arguments where defense counsel compared Mr. Boyle's claim for damages to those made in an unrelated 1994 New Mexico case often referred to as the "McDonald's coffee case":

It's a per diem analysis. How many days has it been since the accident? How many days for the rest of his life? And how much per day is that worth? That's what been done here. That's how we get verdicts like in the McDonald's case with a cup of coffee.

(R. 695, p. 48:17-22)

Mr. Boyle's counsel objected on the grounds that the statement addressed a matter not in evidence and was prejudicial, but the objection was overruled. (R. 695, pp. 48:17-49:5) The jury returned a very low verdict of only \$62,500, of which only \$27,800 was awarded for general damages.

A majority of the Court of Appeals held that, not only was it not an abuse of discretion to allow defense counsel to reference the "coffee case," but that such a reference is in fact proper. Opinion, ¶ 18. Concurring in the result, Judge McHugh would have held that reference to the McDonald's case was improper, but that there was no prejudice to the plaintiff. Opinion, ¶¶ 26-31.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A party's right to question prospective jurors regarding their views on tort reform issues has been recognized in Utah for nearly two decades. (Hence the fact that the defendant did not object to Mr. Boyle's proposed questions in this case.) As the Court of Appeals has repeatedly stated, without this type of information, a party's ability to intelligently exercise his peremptory challenges is materially impeded. Consequently, the trial court's refusal to ask any of Mr. Boyle's tort reform questions – while simultaneously asking injury-specific questions that aided the defendant in his peremptory challenges – was both contrary to Utah law and inherently prejudicial, particularly where the amount of damages was the only issue at trial.

The Court of Appeals' ruling that Mr. Boyle did not preserve this issue for appeal because he did not object after the trial court ruled on his request is in direct conflict with U.R.Civ.P. 46, which expressly states that exceptions to adverse rulings need not be taken. In the relatively rare instance when a trial court fails to advise the parties of its decision regarding voir dire before conducting the voir dire, and does not elicit input before moving on to for-cause challenges, the issue has been preserved in the only way that is practicable and required under Rule 46, *i.e.*, timely submission of the proposed questions. Moreover, in the absence of authority putting Mr. Boyle on notice that submission of the questions was insufficient preservation, the Court of Appeals should have considered the trial court's omission under a plain error analysis.

Mr. Boyle was further prejudiced in closing arguments when the defendant's counsel compared Mr. Boyle's claim for damages to an unrelated, nationally notorious tort reform



case, the “McDonald’s coffee case.” Defendant’s mention of this case – an increasingly common defense tactic in Utah – was patently intended to inflame jurors’ prejudices regarding perceived excessive damage awards in personal injury cases, which was highly prejudicial to the plaintiff in this “damages only” lawsuit.

Finally, the trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff Norrine Boyle’s consortium claim prior to trial. The Boyles’ record citations, and reasonable inferences therefrom, raised a question of fact as to whether Mr. Boyle was materially limited in his ability to perform the same type of jobs as before the accident, which is a sufficient method of proving an “injury” for purposes of the loss-of-consortium statute. The Court of Appeals’ much narrower reading of the statute is an overly restrictive interpretation.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DISTRICT COURT AS TO THE VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS SUBMITTED TO THE JURY.**

Pursuant to the Scheduling Order in place, Mr. Boyle provided the trial court with a proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow Up Voir Dire which included his short, two-page, questionnaire. (R. 599-600.) Four of the questions were intended to solicit jurors’ views on issues generally referred to as tort reform issues. *Id.*

Although the defendant did not object to the questions, the trial court nonetheless did not ask any of the plaintiff’s “What are your views...” questions designed to elicit information for peremptory challenges. *See* Opinion, ¶¶ 10, 11. Instead, it limited its voir dire to “Are you biased?” questions that are designed to enable for-cause challenges.

*Id.*; see pp. 13-15, *infra* (cases recognizing that the latter type of questions are of little or no use in exercising peremptory challenges).

The only questions that were arguably designed to elicit responses regarding biases were the trial court's questions 13, 14 and 15:

13. Do you have any feelings or beliefs that would prevent you from being fair and impartial regarding persons who have personal injury disputes and who choose to resolve those disputes by going to court?
14. Do you have any personal religious or other beliefs that would prevent you from awarding damages in a large amount, small amount, or zero amount, if warranted and justified by the evidence and the law given you by the Court?
15. Given all considerations and everything you know about this case so far, can you be fair, impartial, neutral, judge of the facts and follow the law as given to you by the Court?

(R. 536; see Add.Exh. 4.)

Not surprisingly, prospective jurors who were asked these general questions answered “No, No, and Yes,” without elaboration. (R. 693, pgs. 33, 39, 41, 47, 51, 55-56, 61, 62, 64, 65, 70, 73, 79, 82, 84, and 89). The questions were neither designed to, nor did they, elicit any information about the individuals' views regarding personal injury lawsuits or tort reform.

**A. A party is entitled to ask jurors their views on tort-reform issues, and the denial of such an opportunity is inherently prejudicial.**

Over the past two decades, the Court of Appeals has consistently held that parties are entitled to seek information from prospective jurors regarding their views on tort reform-related issues. See *Bee v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc.*, 2009 UT App 35, ¶16, 204 P.3d

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