2009

# John Boyle and Norrine Boyle v. Kerry Christensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Plaintiff is not entitled to have a jury questionnaire presented in the exact form, depth, or extent as he claims. Even if Plaintiff is entitled to have the exact questions he proposed on his questionnaire asked during voir dire, his attorney failed to preserve the issue for appeal because he did not object when the trial court elected to submit the

written questions in amended form. Plaintiff's counsel also did not seek an opportunity to ask additional questions when given the opportunity to do so at the end of the trial judge's questions, even though defense counsel did request and receive additional questioning. (R 693 at p. 97.) An essential component of disagreeing with a court's decision is that counsel makes that objection known to the court; Plaintiff's counsel failed to do so at any time prior to or during this trial.

Moreover, the trial court judge properly ruled on plaintiff counsel's objection to defense counsel's harmless reference to the "McDonald's Coffee" case. Defense counsel used the reference in an effort to cast light on plaintiff counsel's attempt to inflate damages by presenting them as part of a per diem analysis. Defense counsel's closing argument references were a valid attempt to expose opposing counsel's highly prejudicial technique and defend her client against an excessive judgment. Regardless, even if it was error, it was harmless.

Lastly, Plaintiff's wife, Norrine Boyle, was not injured in this case. The legislature has set forth very specific rules for a loss of consortium claims; Plaintiff's injuries simply do not rise to the level required for his wife, Mrs. Boyle to sustain her claim for loss of consortium. Plaintiff Boyle was not incapable of performing the types of jobs the person performed before the injury. This was not a summary judgment motion, but simply a motion to interpretation of whether Ms. Boyle met the evidentiary requirements of Utah Code. Ann. § 30-2-11(1)(a)(iii).

The well-reasoned opinions of the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied long established Utah law regarding voir dire, preservation of the

record for appeal, and a trial court's discretion. Consequently, this Court should affirm the decision by the Utah Court of Appeals.

### **ARGUMENT**

The lower court did not commit error by allowing the trial court judge discretion to conduct voir dire, allowing counsel to use non-prejudicial "lawyer talk" during closing arguments, or dismissing Ms. Boyle's loss of consortium claim. Plaintiff counsel did not preserve the right to appeal regarding tort reform questions because there was no objection prior to or during voir dire. Defense counsel is allowed to use lawyer talk during closing arguments to defend her client. In addition, the trial court may dismiss a claim if a plaintiff is unable to meet an evidentiary standard prescribed by statute. Ultimately, the law is clear and the District Court and the Utah Court of Appeals properly resolved the issues raised by Plaintiff.

#### **POINT I    AFFIRMING A JUDGE'S DISCRETION WHEN CONDUCTING VOIR DIRE IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH PRIOR DECISIONS AND IS NOT ERROR WHEN APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE THE RIGHT TO APPEAL.**

The trial court fashioned a voir dire questionnaire for potential jurors by combining submitted questions from opposing parties. This is proper under Rule 47(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure because the judge is given "considerable discretion" and "may itself conduct the examination" during voir dire. Utah R. Civ. P. Rule 47(a) (2008); see also Ostler v. Albina Transfer Co., 781 P.2d 445, 447 (Utah App. 1989). There is no question that a trial court judge does not need to use the exact questions suggested by either party, but instead may use alternative questions. Bee v. Aneheuser-

Busch, Inc., 2009 UT App 35, ¶16, 204 P.3d 204. In this case, Appellants' Brief simply does not contain a citation to the record showing they properly objected to the Trial Court's voir dire questionnaire.

Counsel is always on notice that it is necessary to show the right to appeal has been preserved. The Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure require an objection to preserve the issue for appeal. Rule 24(a)(5)(A) requires an appellant to include "a citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court." Utah R. Appellate P. (2008). A "challenging party must show they raised the issue in a timely fashion, specifically, and supported by evidence or relevant legal authority." Williams v. Bench, 2008 UT App. 306, ¶31, 193 P.3d 640 (internal quotations omitted). This supports the policy that "trial courts ought to be given an opportunity to address a claimed error and, if appropriate, correct it." Id. (internal quotations omitted). If a Plaintiff fails to do this, then he or she is "deemed to have waived the issue." Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp., 869 P.2d 926, 931 (Utah 1993). Ultimately, "alleged deficiencies in voir dire must be brought to the district court's attention in order to be preserved for appeal." Opinion, at ¶7.

Furthermore, the Utah Court of Appeals has held parties are entitled to ask questions specifically designed to elicit "which jurors may have *read* or *heard* information generally on tort reform." Bee, 2009 UT App. at ¶16 (citing Barrett v. Peterson, 868 P.2d 96 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), which quotes Evans v. Doty, 824 P.2d 460, 467 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)) (ellipses omitted). The purpose for allowing this type of

questioning is specific; these questions are designed to determine whether any prospective juror has been exposed to tort reform propaganda, which can lead to subconscious biases. Id.; see also Alcazar, 2008 UT App. at ¶12 (noting “the trial court’s questions did not allow the plaintiff an opportunity to know which of the prospective jurors had been exposed to tort reform propaganda.”) (emphasis in original).

In Ostler, the plaintiff brought a personal injury action against the driver of a commercial truck for an accident in which the plaintiff was paralyzed from the waist down. 781 P.2d at 446. One of the issues on appeal by the plaintiff/appellant was that the jury voir dire did not adequately reveal bias related to exposure to “tort reform” propaganda. Id. at 447. The judge refused to ask the plaintiff’s proposed questions, and instead, asked (1) whether potential jurors would object to providing a large claim (exceeding a million dollars), (2) if they believed people should not resort to the courts to resolve disputes or recover damages, and (3) whether they “believed they were incapable of rendering a fair and true verdict based on the evidence.” Id. The Utah Court of Appeals found the modified “questions [were] substantively responsive to plaintiff’s concerns and appear[ed] sufficient to reveal ‘tort reform’ bias.” Id. Accordingly, the court upheld the trial court judge’s discretion when conducting voir dire.

In the present case, the Boyles have failed to show two things regarding voir dire: (1) they cannot establish the trial court judge abused his discretion, and (2) they cannot demonstrate they preserved the right to appeal. The Utah Court of Appeals already found the “district court conducted voir dire using its own questions without objection from either party.” Opinion, ¶4. Significantly, “[a]t no time [] did Mr. Boyle ever indicate to

the district court that the court's questions failed to adequately address the concerns posed by his own questions." Opinion, at ¶11. The Court of Appeals said:

Mr. Boyle argues on appeal that his mere submission of specific jury questions relating to damages and tort reform preserves for appeal his claim that the voir dire questions the district court actually posed were inadequate. *We disagree* . . . Here the district court attempted to reconcile the parties' proposed jury questions into a single set of voir dire questions that addressed each party's concerns. If Mr. Boyle believed that the district court's modification of his questions constituted error on the part of the district court, it was his obligation to bring this alleged error to the district court's attention. *His failure to do so constitutes a waiver of the issue as one for appeal*. See *id.*; compare Doe v. Hafen, 772 P.2d 456, 458 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (finding no preservation where a party failed to "call the judge's attention to [a] specific question" in a set of voir dire questions that had been rejected by the trial court), with Alcazar v. University of Utah Hosps. & Clinics, 2008 UT App 222, ¶5, 188 P.3d 490 (addressing substantive issue where appellant had "repeatedly attempted to persuade the trial court to give the requested voir dire questions, including briefing the rather direct authority from this court on the issue, [but] the court declined and offered its own unique philosophical approach to voir dire in medical malpractice cases.").

Opinion, at ¶12 (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs' cite to Alcazar v. U. of U. Hosp., 188 P.3d 490 (UT. App. 2008) to further support that the lower court judgments should be reversed. Alcazar is distinguishable. In Alcazar, the underlying claim was for medical malpractice. The Plaintiffs' proposed a jury questionnaire that contained questions specific to biases and prejudices with regard to medical malpractice claims, yet the judge refused to ask any of the proposed med-mal questions. Here, the underlying case deals with an auto/pedestrian accident, but the questions Plaintiff argues should have been asked dealt with tort reform in general. Plaintiff's proposed questions dealt with general tort reform and the modified questions also dealt with tort reform. The Utah Court of Appeals explained:

As the trial approached, Mr. Boyle submitted a proposed jury questionnaire that included specific questions intended to elicit jurors' views regarding damages and tort reform. Christensen also submitted proposed voir dire questions, and the district court edited and combined the parties' proposed questions into a single set of voir dire questions that did not contain the exact questions posed by either party. The district court conducted voir dire using its own questions without objection from either party.

Opinion, at ¶4. Thus, the court asked “related questions” that adequately garnered information requested by Plaintiff to make a preemptory challenge. Opinion, at ¶14.

Plaintiffs' also cite to Bee to support their argument, but they mischaracterize the holding from that case. The Bee decision did not say plaintiffs were entitled to “elicit any information about the individuals' views regarding personal injury lawsuits or tort reform” as the Boyles' claim. Instead, the appellate court concluded:

[The] trial court should have asked the prospective jurors appropriate ***preliminary*** questions—either those suggested by appellant or alternative questions more to its liking—***designed to detect, initially***, whether any of the prospective jurors ***had been exposed to tort reform propaganda***. Had the trial court done so, ***and had any of the jurors responded positively to these initial questions***, appellant would have been entitled to have more specific questions put to the jurors designed to probe those jurors' attitudes regarding, and possible bias resulting from, the tort-reform information.

2009 UT App. at ¶16 (citing Barrett v. Peterson, 868 P.2d 96 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)) (ellipses omitted) (emphasis added).

Before questioning the jury pool, Judge Medley gave counsel a written list of questions that he intended to ask potential jurors. Later, he asked counsel in chambers whether they wanted any further questions asked of the jury pool. In response to a request by defense counsel, he further questioned potential juror number eight. Despite clear opportunities to seek further questioning, plaintiff counsel stayed silent. The



Boyles' had many chances to object or request further questioning prior to and during voir dire. Plaintiffs' counsel simply chose not to do so, presumably, because they believed the questions asked already asked by Judge Medley were adequate.

However, even if this Court determines plaintiffs' right to appeal was preserved, plaintiff counsel never requested the court to ask whether prospective jurors were exposed to tort reform propaganda. The four questions the Boyles claim the court should have asked do not seek whether potential jurors "may have read or heard information generally on tort reform." Despite this, similar to Ostler, and as required under Bee, the trial court asked potential jurors fifteen questions that were sufficient, in their totality and context, to reveal any tort reform bias, including:

13. Do you have any feelings or beliefs that would prevent you from being fair and impartial regarding persons who have personal injury disputes and who choose to resolve those disputes by going to court?

14. Do you have any personal religious or other beliefs that would prevent you from awarding damages in a large amount, small amount, or zero amount, if warranted and justified by the evidence and the law given you by the Court?

(R. 536). Plaintiffs' counsel claims it is "inherently prejudicial" not to ask potential jurors about their views on "tort reform issues," but Bee does not state this. Bee only uses "prejudice is presumed" language regarding a different issue—if a trial court may allow co-defendants separate sets of peremptory challenges—and not regarding tort reform voir dire, 2009 UT App. at ¶18.

Plaintiffs' contention that questions 13-14 did not, as a *preliminary* matter, address their tort reform questions is unfounded. Plaintiffs' counsel argues that these questions were insufficient because most prospective jurors responded merely with a "no" answer.

Yet under Bee, the case Plaintiffs' rely on, the trial court was only obligated to ask follow-up questions "had any of the jurors responded positively to these initial questions." 2009 UT App. at ¶16. In addition to these two questions, the court asked extensive questions of the jury during oral voir dire in order to discover any potential bias or prejudice.

The trial court is granted substantial discretion during the jury selection process and clearly did not abuse that discretion in this trial. It was not prejudicial against the Plaintiff to use alternative questions that elicited substantially equivalent information. Nevertheless, despite the sufficiency of questioning, plaintiff counsel failed to preserve this issue for an appeal. If the Court allows counsel to obtain a reversal without requiring a formal, proper objection, then it will be giving parties a free pass for a new trial. Instead, the Court should affirm the lower court determinations.

**POINT II ALLOWING NON-PREJUDICIAL LAWYER TALK DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS IS HARMLESS AND NOT ERROR.**

The lower courts did not commit error by permitting counsel to use non-prejudicial "lawyer talk," and this ruling does not depart from the accepted course of judicial proceedings. Judges have "considerable latitude" of discretion over statements offered during closing arguments "as to what is permissible for counsel to argue, and as to what may be so prejudicial that a miscarriage of justice could result." Hales v. Peterson, 360 P.2d 822, 824 (Utah 1961). Thus, even if the argument in question is improper or has no bearing to the facts of the case, the petitioner must show the statement caused prejudice and affected the fundamental fairness of the trial to meet the standard

for reversible error. Jones v. Carvell, 641 P.2d 105, 112 (Utah 1982); see also Opinion, at ¶8 (explaining the court’s obligation to determine “whether remarks made during closing argument improperly influenced the verdict”).

Any claimed prejudice must be based on more than mere “lawyer talk,” which is not intended to substitute for evidence, because “the sensible and fair rule” with respect to presenting an argument “is to leave the propriety of counsel’s use of such argument to the sound discretion of the trial court.” Olsen v. Preferred Risk Mutual Ins. Co., 354 P.2d 575, 576 (Utah 1960). In addition, although plaintiff counsel refers to this case for another purpose, Spahr v. Ferber Resorts, LLC also persuasively highlights the Tenth Circuit rule regarding closing arguments and lawyer talk:

[V]acating a jury award and ordering a new trial on the basis of an inappropriate closing argument is an extreme remedy only to be granted in unusual cases . . . [because] even through an argument may be improper, a judgment will not be disturbed unless it clearly appears that the challenged remarks influenced the verdict.

No. 2:08-cv-72, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9571 (D. Utah Feb. 4, 2010).

In Hales, a young girl was killed in an automobile/pedestrian accident. 360 P.2d at 824. During closing arguments, defense counsel stated the driver was not negligent because the highway patrol and investigating officers did not issue any citation or arrest for wrongdoing. Id. The court held this was not reversible error even though the argument was “immaterial” and had “no place in the argument to the jury.” Id.

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